IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re	Kenneth D., a Person Coming	g)	S276649
<u>Unde</u>	r the Juvenile Court Law.	_)	
)	Court of Appeal
Place	r County Department)	No. C096051
of He	alth and Human Services,)	
	Plaintiff and Respondent,)	Placer County
	v.)	No. 53005180
J.T.,)	
	Defendant and Appellant.)	
)	

Petitioner's Opening Brief on the Merits

After the published decision of the Court of Appeal of California, Third Appellate District, filed August 31, 2022

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

1. May an appellate court take additional evidence to remedy the failure of the child welfare agency and the trial court to comply with the inquiry, investigation and notice requirements of the Indian Child Welfare Act (25 U.S.C. § 1901 et seq.(ICWA); Welf. & Inst. Code § 224 et seq.)?

2. If so, what procedures must be followed?

INTRODUCTION

When the child welfare agency (Department) and the trial court fail to comply with the inquiry, investigation and notice requirements of the Indian Child Welfare Act and related California law,¹ the appellate court may not take additional evidence to remedy that failure on appeal from an order terminating parental rights except in rare circumstances.

Appellate courts have limited authority, on a party's motion, to make independent factual findings and take additional evidence on appeal. (Code Civ. Proc., § 909;² Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.252(b) & (c);³ Golden West Baseball Co. v. City of Anaheim (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 11, 41-42; Eisenberg, Cal. Prac. Guide: Civil Appeals & Writs (The Rutter Group, 2022), ¶ 5:168, p. 5-65.)

Section 909 expressly states, "This section shall be liberally construed to the end among others that, where feasible, causes may be finally disposed of by a single appeal and without further

¹ Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978 (25 U.S.C. § 1901 et seq. (ICWA); Welf. & Inst. Code § 224 et seq.

² Code of Civil Procedure section 909 provides in part, "the reviewing court may make factual determinations contrary to or in addition to those made by the trial court."

³ All statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure unless otherwise stated and all rule references are to the California Rules of Court.

proceedings in the trial court except where in the interests of justice a new trial is required on some or all of the issues."

Section 909 is not intended to usurp the trial court's factfinding authority. In practice, the circumstances under which appellate courts will receive new evidence are very rare. (*See In re Zeth S.* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 396, 405 (*Zeth S.*).)

In Zeth S. this Court disapproved the procedure where the Court of Appeal considered postjudgment evidence presented for the first time through the unsworn statements of the minor's appointed appellate counsel in a brief and relied on that evidence to reverse the juvenile court's judgment terminating parental rights. (Zeth S., supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 400.) This procedure violated both generally applicable rules of appellate procedure and the express provisions of Welfare and Institutions Code section 366.26. (Id. at p. 413.)

The Court of Appeal in the present case considered postjudgment evidence to remedy the failure of the juvenile court to follow ICWA inquiry requirements. As will be explained, this situation is analogous to and controlled by *Zeth S.*, as the evidence was contested, contrary to the evidence presented before the trial court, and offered on a central issue in the case.

This brief will also discuss concerns that the procedure followed in this case does not afford parents due process on appeal and can result in unreliable ICWA determinations.

In answer to the Court's second question, California Rules of Court rule 8.252^4 establishes a procedure that must be followed

⁴ Rule 8.252(b) provides, "A party may move that the reviewing court make findings under [section] 909. The motion must include proposed findings."

Rule 8.252(c) provides for evidence on appeal as follows: (1) A party may move that the reviewing court take evidence. (2) An order granting the motion must: (A) State the issues on which evidence will be taken; (B) Specify whether the court, a justice, or a special master or referee will take the evidence; and (C) Give

for the reviewing court to receive and consider postjudgment evidence. First, a motion must be filed. Next, the court must state the issues, specify the judicial officer who will take the evidence, and give notice of the time and place for the hearing.

In reviewing the parental rights termination order in this case, the Court of Appeal did not follow the authorized procedure when it granted the Department's motion to augment the record with a social workers' memorandum of the Department's postjudgment inquiries to determine biological father Joshua T.'s Indian heritage and to demonstrate its earlier failure to investigate was harmless. The Court did not comply with the procedures for the reviewing court to take postjudgment evidence. Its order granting the motion did not state the issues on which evidence would be taken; it did not specify the judicial officer who would take the evidence; it did not give notice of the time and place for taking the evidence. (§ 909; rule 8.252(c).) Moreover, it did not appoint counsel for Joshua T. to address the motion at a noticed hearing. Joshua T. did not have an opportunity to dispute the Department's memorandum and present evidence in a noticed hearing with counsel. Finally, the social worker's memorandum revealed a dispute between Joshua T. and his family member about his Indian⁵ heritage, which was beyond the authority of the reviewing court to resolve.

Joshua T. will request this Court to reverse the determination of the Court of Appeal.

notice of the time and place for taking the evidence. (3) For documentary evidence, . . . The court may admit the document in evidence without a hearing."

⁵ California statute defines the term "Indian" or "Indian child" as provided in section 1903 of the federal Indian Child Welfare Act (25 U.S.C. § 1901 et seq.). (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 224.1, subd. (a).)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. <u>Detention</u>

This case began April 19, 2021 when the Department filed a petition alleging the child Kenneth D. came within the provisions of Welfare and Institutions Code section 300, subdivisions (b)(1) and (j), in that he suffered, or was at substantial risk of suffering, harm due to substance abuse by C.B. (Mother), who had previously had another child taken away as a result of her substance abuse. (CT 1-5.)

The petition named alleged father Timothy D., who resided with Mother and had a history of abusing controlled substances. It did not name Joshua T.⁶ (CT 1-5.)

Attached to the petition was the ICWA-010(A) form stating an inquiry had been made of Timothy D. The form did not indicate whether the inquiry gave any reason to believe the child may be an Indian child. (CT 5.)

The detention report filed April 22, 2021 stated alleged father Timothy D. and Mother each reported some Indian ancestry. (CT 16-17.)

On April 22, 2021 Mother and Timothy D. attended the detention hearing. The court found Timothy D. was an alleged father. (CT 34.)

At the hearing the court asked Mother and Timothy D., "To your knowledge do you have any Native heritage that elevates you to the point where you are eligible for registration" and each answered no. The court found ICWA did not apply. (RT 4, 12; CT 35.) The court did not order any parent to complete form ICWA-020 and no such forms appear in the record.

The court ordered paternity testing for Timothy D. (RT 11.) The court found a prima facie showing to detain Kenneth D.

⁶ The California Supreme Court caption refers to father Joshua T. as "J.T."

from Mother and Timothy D. (RT 11.)

B. Jurisdiction/Disposition

The investigator continued to inquire about Indian ancestry and on May 4, 2021 and May 5, 2021 Mother and Timothy D. confirmed no Indian ancestry. However, paternity testing concluded Timothy D. was not the biological father of Kenneth D. and the biological father remained unknown. The report indicated, "At this time, the current finding that ICWA does not apply to Kenneth remains appropriate; however, should a biological father be identified as to Kenneth, then further inquiry will be conducted pertaining to his paternal ancestry." (CT 48.)

Mother and Timothy D. each appeared with counsel at the May 26, 2021 jurisdiction / disposition hearing. Joshua T. appeared remotely in pro per. (RT 16.)

The court found Timothy D. the presumed father as he signed the voluntary declaration of paternity. (RT 20.)

The court found the petition true under subdivisions (b)(1) and (j) of Welfare and Institutions Code section 300 and adjudged Kenneth D. a dependent. (RT 20.) It found ICWA does not apply "at this point." (RT 23.)

After Mother and Timothy D. left the courtroom, the court addressed Joshua T., an alleged biological father, stating it was waiting for the results of his recent DNA test. As a biological father, the Department would decide whether to offer him services if in the child's best interests, but he would not automatically have reunification services. The court would not appoint an attorney to represent Joshua T. while waiting for the test results. (RT 26.)

The court stated if the DNA test results determined Joshua T. was the biological father of Kenneth D., it would put the matter on calendar. The court continued, "we can actually have two fathers." Timothy D. was the "presumed father" entitled to services. The biological father could also be involved in the case once the court had the test results. (RT 27.)

C. Six-Month Review

The November 17, 2021 status review report, filed November 3, 2021, stated, "At the detention hearing on April 22, 2021, the Court found that ICWA did not apply. At this time, the Department does not have reason to know that there is Indian heritage; however, the Department will continue its inquiry." (CT 158.)

The report stated Joshua T. was found to be Kenneth D.'s biological father, following a paternity test. He had not contacted the Department so it had not informed him of the results. (CT 158.)

The November 17, 2021 addendum report, filed November 15, 2021, stated Mother had "rekindled" her relationship with Joshua T. (CT 197.)

On December 7, 2021 Mother appeared with counsel. Timothy D. appeared only through counsel. Joshua T. appeared in pro per. (RT 37.)

Joshua T. asked for a continuance to request reunification services. He had contacted a lawyer who could not attend the hearing but wanted Joshua T. to request an extension "to amend the birth certificate" and an opportunity for reunification services. (RT 40-41.) The court informed Joshua T. he would need to file a Welfare and Institutions Code section 388 petition; it denied his request to continue because he was only the "biological father." (RT 41.)

The court found ICWA does not apply. (RT 42.)

The court terminated reunification services and set a Welfare and Institutions Code section 366.26 hearing. (RT 43.) It informed Joshua T. that his next step was to file the modification request. (RT 44.)

D. <u>Welfare and Institutions Code section 366.26</u> <u>Hearing</u>

The March 22, 2022 Welfare and Institutions Code section 366.26 report, filed March 10, 2022 summarized its February 15, 2021 ICWA inquiries and stated, "The Department has no reason to know that the child is an Indian child and requests that based on the information the Department was able to obtain, there is no reason to know the child is ICWA eligible." (CT 231.)

The Department assessed Kenneth D. as very adoptable with no exceptions to termination of parental rights. (CT 239.)

As to Joshua T., the Department stated, "Even though Mr. [T.] is the biological father, he never followed up with the Department to inquire about his son, nor have his attorney file a 388 requesting services. He is only considered a biological father who has never had contact with his biological son nor has he cared for nor has he seen Kenneth." (CT 240.)

The report stated biological father Joshua T. had very little contact with the Department and Kenneth D. Joshua T. completed a DNA paternity test on May 25, 2021. He stated in court on May 26, 2021 he had not been allowed to be involved with Kenneth D. and was not informed when Kenneth D. was born but he wanted to be there. (CT 240; RT 26-27.)

The Department reported on July 6, 2021 the social worker left a voice mail for Joshua T. to return her call about the paternity results. Joshua T. did not attend the August 25, 2021 hearing but he appeared on November 17, 2021. Services were not offered to him. (CT 240.)

The Department also reported on December 7, 2021 Joshua T. requested a continuance to be given services. The court denied his request and said he needed to file a Welfare and Institutions Code section 388 petition. Although Joshua T. was the biological father, he did not file a Welfare and Institutions Code section 388 requesting services and did not follow up with the Department to inquire about Kenneth D. Accordingly, the parental relationship exception did not apply to Joshua T. (CT 240.)

At the March 22, 2022 hearing, Mother appeared with counsel. Joshua T. appeared in pro per. (RT 46.)

The court asked Joshua T. how he wished to proceed, stating, "you were here on December 7th, and if you wanted to get any services etc., you were going to hire counsel and file a motion to modify." (RT 48.) Joshua T. responded, "I wasn't able to pull that form out, and my counsel is not here today. I just would like visitation." (RT 49.)

When the court asked if he objected to the termination of his parental rights, Joshua T. said "No." (RT 49.)

The court terminated parental rights and ordered Kenneth D.'s permanent plan as adoption with the foster parents / prospective adoptive parents, where he had been placed on July 23, 2021. (RT 51; CT 245.)

The court did not discuss ICWA compliance at the hearing to terminate parental rights. (RT 46-53.)

E. Notice of Appeal

On April 1, 2022 Joshua T. timely filed a notice of appeal in pro per and requested an appointed attorney on appeal. (CT 271-272.) He checked the box that he was not represented by an appointed attorney in the superior court and added the handwritten statement, "I asked several times." (CT 271.)

F. Department's Motion

On April 28, 2022, the Department filed in the juvenile

court a memorandum from the social worker of postjudgment efforts to determine Joshua T.'s Indian heritage. (Aug CT 1-3.)

On April 29, 2022 the Department filed in the Court of Appeal a Motion to Augment the appellate record (motion) with the memorandum filed in the juvenile court. The motion noted the document proposed for augmentation, the April 28, 2022 memorandum, was not on file or considered by the juvenile court at the Welfare and Institutions Code section 366.26 hearing on March 22, 2022. (Motion at p. 3, citing RT 46.)

According to the memorandum, Joshua T. stated he might have Cherokee ancestry and the social worker should contact his mother Elena T., who would have further information. (Aug CT 2.) Also, according to the memorandum, paternal grandmother stated she completed a blood DNA ancestry test which came back stating they had Native Heritage. She "assumes it is from Mexico since this is where her family resided." (Aug CT 2.) The memorandum indicates she stated "all of her family is actually from Culican Sinaloa, Mexico." (Aug CT 2.)

The Court of Appeal granted the Department's motion on May 5, 2022. Its order granting the motion did not state the issues on which evidence would be taken; it did not specify the judicial officer who would take the evidence; it did not give notice of the time and place for taking the evidence. (Rule 8.252(c).) Moreover, it did not appoint counsel for Joshua T. to address the motion at a noticed hearing. The Court of Appeal appointed counsel for Joshua T. on June 10, 2022. (See Docket (Register of Actions) case no. C096051.)

G. Opinion and Petition for Review

In its August 31, 2022, opinion affirming the parental rights termination order, the Court of Appeal found the "abject failure" of the Department and juvenile court to inquire as to Joshua T.'s possible Indian heritage was error. (In re Kenneth D. (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 1027, 1034.) But the Court concluded Joshua T. had not shown this error was prejudicial. The Court of Appeal stated it was appropriate to consider the Department's posttermination evidence "that has been made part of the official appellate record." (Ibid.) The Court accepted as true and determinative the Department's assumption that Joshua's mother meant the family's native heritage as being of Mexican origin. (Kenneth D., supra, 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 1034.)

On October 10, 2022 Joshua T. filed a petition for review, which this Court granted on November 30, 2022.

DISCUSSION

I.

WITH CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, NOT APPLICABLE HERE, APPELLATE COURTS MAY NOT TAKE ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE TO REMEDY ICWA ERRORS ON APPEAL FROM ORDERS TERMINATING PARENTAL RIGHTS.

A. <u>General rule</u>

It has long been the general rule and understanding that

"an appeal reviews the correctness of a judgment as of the time of its rendition, upon a record of matters which were before the trial court for its consideration. [Citation.] This rule reflects an essential distinction between the trial and the appellate court . . . that it is the province of the trial court to decide questions of fact and of the appellate court to decide questions of law."

(Zeth S., supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 405, citing Tupman v. Haberkern (1929) 208 Cal. 256, 262-263.)

Although appellate courts are authorized to make findings of fact on appeal by section 909, that authority should be exercised sparingly. Absent exceptional circumstances, no such findings should be made. (*Zeth S., supra,* 31 Cal.4th at p. 405.) There is no blanket exception to the general rule for juvenile dependency appeals. (*Ibid.*)

"[C]laims of error under ICWA are not rare and will not typically present the type of exceptional circumstances warranting deviation from the general rule....' [Citations.] To the contrary, routinely accepting the submission of such evidence on review 'invites the [very] deviat[ion] from settled rules on appeal' disapproved of in Zeth S. [Citation.]"

(*In re E.C.* (2022) 85 Cal.App.5th 123, 149, quoting *Zeth S., supra*, 31 Cal.4th at pp. 405-406.)

Thus, the trial court decides questions of fact. The

appellate court decides questions of law. This promotes the orderly settling of factual questions in the trial court with an opportunity to be heard, present evidence, and representation by counsel.

B. Procedures for taking additional evidence on appeal

1. Motion to Augment

Here the Department's procedure of a motion to augment with postjudgment evidence, creating a new record rather than completing the appellate record in the case, was inappropriate.

"Augmentation does not function to supplement the record with materials not before the trial court. [Citations.]... Rather, normally 'when reviewing the correctness of a trial court's judgment, an appellate court will consider only matters which were part of the record at the time the judgment was entered.' [Citation.]."

(In re K.M. (2015) 242 Cal.App.4th 450, 455-456, citing Vons Companies, Inc. v. Seabest Foods, Inc. (1996) 14 Cal.4th 434, 444, fn. 3. (Vons).)

The augmentation procedure cannot be used to bring up matters *outside* the record (e.g., matters occurring during the pendency of the appeal). (*K.M., supra,* 242 Cal.App.4th at p. 456; see Eisenberg, Cal. Prac. Guide: Civil Appeals and Writs, *supra,* ¶ 5:134, p. 5-47.)

2. Request for Judicial Notice

Taking judicial notice is not a viable solution. Reviewing courts generally do not take judicial notice of evidence not presented to the trial court absent exceptional circumstances. (*Vons, supra,* 14 Cal.4th at p. 444, fn. 3.)

For example, declarations from the Department with maternal relatives and tribes to correct an ICWA error did not

present "exceptional circumstances" justifying engagement in findings of fact on review. (*E.C., supra,* 85 Cal.App.5th at p. 135.) Although occasional cases present exceptions, the inquiry is fact specific. (*Id.* at p. 148.)

Moreover, judicial notice may be taken of the existence of court documents but not the truth of factual findings made in other court rulings. (*K.M., supra,* 242 Cal.App.4th at p. 456.)

3. Code of Civil Procedure section 909

Section 909 permits appellate courts to make independent factual findings and take additional evidence on appeal. However, as stated, the statute is not intended to usurp the trial court's factfinding authority. In practice, the circumstances under which appellate courts will receive new evidence are very rare. (*Zeth S., supra,* 31 Cal.4th at p. 405.) Appellate courts will not use section 909 to substitute their own factual determinations for those of the trial court. (See *Eisenberg,* Cal. Prac. Guide: Civil Appeals and Writs, *supra,* ¶ 5:169, p. 5-65, 5-66; *Tupman v. Haberkern, supra,* 208 Cal. at p. 269.)

C. This Court's Opinions in Dependency Cases

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