IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re Kenneth D., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.)	S276649
)	Court of Appeal
Placer County Department of Health and)	No. C0961051
Human Services,)	
Plaintiff and Respondent)	Placer County Superior
)	Court No. 53005180
V.)	
)	
J.T.,)	
Defendant and Appellant)	

Respondent's Answer Brief on the Merits

After the published decision of the Court of Appeal of California, Third Appellate District, filed August 31, 2022 BECKY MARTIN, SB# 321613 175 Fulweiler Avenue Auburn, CA 95603 (530) 886-4630 cclcps@placer.ca.gov Attorney for Respondent Placer County Department of Health and Human Services

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

The Court of Appeal found no error regarding the Department's actions with regard to the any possible Native American ancestry regarding the mother. With regard to the Father, the Court of Appeal did find that the Department failed in its duty to timely inquire into father's ancestry, but that given the subsequent, conclusive information showing that father does not have any Native American

heritage, and as such the ICWA does not apply, any error was harmless. This Court granted the Petition for review and this appeal follows.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

1. THE LAW DOES NOT REQUIRE THE DOING OF A FUTILE ACT

A. The Appellate Court Correctly Decided this Case on the Merits

As the United States Supreme Court stated 43 years ago, "The law does not require the doing of a futile act." *Ohio* v. *Roberts* (1980) 448 U.S. 56, 74, 65 L.Ed.2d 597, 613, 100 S.Ct. 2531. While *Roberts* dealt with the availability of a witness in a criminal case, Courts both before and since have universally accepted this principal. See gen. *People v. Lewis* (1986) 42 Cal. 3d. 969, 728 P/2d 180, 232 Cal.Rptr. 110. In the case at bar, Petitioner is requesting that this Court reverse and remand the case for further fact finding. Such a result, given the uncontroverted evidence, would yield precisely the same result.

As the Court of Appeal noted, "The ICWA protects the interests of Indian children and promotes the stability and security of Indian tribes by establishing minimum standards for removal of Indian children from their families, and by permitting tribal participation in dependency proceedings. [Citations.] A major purpose of the ICWA is to protect "Indian children who are members of or are eligible for membership in an Indian tribe."" (Citing *In re A.W.* (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 655, 662.).

The Appellate Court then explained that state law imposes mandatory duties on the Department in relation to the Indian Child Welfare Act whenever it takes a

child into care. (WIC Section 224, et. seq.) The first is to ask all involved persons whether the child may be an Indian child. (§ 224.2, subds. (a), (b).). If anyone answers in the affirmative, the Department is then required to "make *further inquiry* regarding the possible Indian status of the child and shall make that inquiry as soon as practicable." (*Id.*, subd. (e), italics added.). If the inquires yield a "reason to know" of Native American Heritage, then the Department must provide formal notice pursuant to state and federal law.

The converse of this principle, however, is also true. In other words, if the result of the further inquiry conclusively establishes there is no reason to believe or know a child does not have any Native American Heritage, the Department is relieved of any further duty to inquire, and all notice requirements are satisfied. This is what happened here.

In this case, Petitioner cites as error the fact that the Department did not immediately ask him about Native American Heritage. The Appellate Court noted this was in fact error, but found it to be harmless. The reason the Court found it to be harmless was because the Department did subsequently ask about Heritage. Father was equivocal in his response, stating he, "thought he might have Cherokee Heritage out of Oklahoma". Petitioner was then unequivocal in his next statement, indicating that his mother would have further information. In other words, Petitioner was not sure about whether he had heritage, but was quite certain his mother would have this information. When then the Department immediately contacted the Paternal Grandmother, she unequivocally stated that whatever

heritage the family had was Mexican, and not Native American. As such, at this point, the evidence conclusively showed that the child could not possibly have Native American heritage. The Department's obligation to make further inquiry – as well as any duty to notice – was then satisfied.

B. Petitioner's Reliance on Zeth S. and Josiah Z. is misplaced

Petitioner's reliance on *in re Zeth S*. and its progeny is misplaced. Petitioner incorrectly cites Zeth S. as standing for the position that post-judgment evidence is impermissible in a dependency case and cannot be considered. Zeth S., however involved the issue of considering post-judgement evidence to overturn a judgement, not evidence that would be used to support an existing judgement. When, however, post judgment evidence is offered to an appellate court in support of a motion to dismiss a juvenile dependency appeal, it is "routinely consider[ed]" because, if the motion is granted, it will have "the beneficial consequence" of "expedit[ing] the proceedings and promot[ing] the finality of the juvenile court's orders and judgment." In re Allison B. (2022) 79 Cal. App. 5th 214 (citing In re Josiah Z. (2005) 36 Cal.4th 664, 676 [31 Cal. Rptr. 3d 472, 115 P.3d 1133]; see In re A.B. (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 832, 843 [79 Cal. Rptr. 3d 580] [appellate courts may "accept evidence in dependency cases "to expedite just and final resolution for the benefit of the children involved""]; accord, In re K.M. (2015) 242 Cal.App.4th 450, 456 [195 Cal. Rptr. 3d 126] (K.M.) [post judgment evidence may "be used to show that the appeal, or an issue involved, is moot"].)" Similar to the case at bar, Allison B. also involved an issue regarding the ICWA, where the Court of Appeal

allowed what they called "last minute evidence" to determine if the appeal was now moot. The Court upheld this practice for the same reason the Court should here: conclusive post judgement evidence that supports a decision would render any remand to be a futile act.

"Post judgment evidence may also be used to show that the appeal, or an issue involved, is moot. (See *Eisenberg et al.*, Cal. Practice Guide: Civil Appeals and Writs, *supra*, ¶ 5:184.5, p. 5-68.) We recognize our Supreme Court in *In re Zeth S., supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 413 [2 Cal. Rptr. 3d 683, 73 P.3d 541], held a reviewing court could not consider new post judgment evidence for the purpose of reversing an order terminating parental rights. However, our case is distinguishable because SSA is not seeking to introduce evidence to overturn the order terminating parental rights. Rather, SSA believes the evidence proves the appeal is moot." *In re K.M.* (2015) 242 Cal. App. 4th 450

In re Josiah Z. (2015) 36 Cal. 4th 664, also relied upon by Petitioner, actually supports the Appellate Court's conclusion in this case by clarifying the holding in *Zeth S*. The *Josiah* Court addressed the rigidity of the *Zeth S*. ruling and specifically stated:

This conclusion reads too much into our holding in Zeth S. There, we held that for an appellate court routinely to solicit postjudgment evidence in order to reopen and reconsider trial court findings and reverse the trial court's judgment "would violate both the generally applicable rules of appellate procedure, and the express provisions of section 366.26 which strictly circumscribe the timing and scope of review of termination orders, for the very purpose of expediting the proceedings and promoting the finality of the juvenile court's orders and judgment." (*In re Zeth S.*, at p. 413.) For these reasons, an appellate court should not consider postjudgment evidence going to

the merits of an appeal and introduced for the purposes of attacking the trial court's judgment.

But these same concerns militate in favor of permitting motions to dismiss to be brought and heard, and distinguish this case from Zeth S. in three respects. First, the generally applicable appellate rules authorize such a motion, and appellate courts routinely consider limited post judgment evidence in the context of such motions. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 41(a)(2); see, e.g., TMS, Inc. v. Aihara (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 377, 378-379 [83 Cal. Rptr. 2d 834]; In re Melissa S. (1986) 179 Cal. App. 3d 1046, 1053–1054 [225 Cal. Rptr. 195].) Second, the limited issue involved in a motion to dismiss, whether a child should be permitted to abandon a challenge to the trial court ruling, is distinct from the broader issues resolved by the trial court, and consideration of circumscribed evidence in this context does not give rise to the vice we condemned in Zeth S.—an appellate court's use of new evidence outside the record to second-guess the trial court's resolution of issues properly committed to it by the statutory scheme. (See In re Zeth S., at pp. 409–410.) Third, the beneficial consequence of motions to dismiss, where granted, will be to "expedit[e] the proceedings and promot[e] the finality of the juvenile court's orders and judgment" (id. at p. 413)—precisely the policy advanced by our ruling in Zeth S.

Code of Civil Procedure Section 909 allows Appellate Courts to consider

post-judgment evidence, stating:

In all cases where trial by jury is not a matter of right or where trial by jury has been waived, the reviewing court may make factual determinations contrary to or in addition to those made by the trial court. The factual determinations may be based on the evidence adduced before the trial court either with or without the taking of evidence by the reviewing court.

The reviewing court may, for the purpose of making the factual determinations or for any other purpose in the interests of justice, take additional evidence of or concerning facts occurring at any time prior to the decision of the appeal, and may give or direct the entry of any judgment or order and may make any further or other order as the case may require. This section shall be liberally construed to the end among others that, where feasible, causes may be finally disposed of by a single appeal and without further proceedings in the trial court_except where in the interests of justice a new trial is required on some or all of the issues. (emphasis added).

Dependency cases are fluid. Unlike other case types, a child continues to grow despite the pendency of an appeal. In this case, regardless of the pending appeal, the Department's ongoing duty to inquire about Native American Heritage continued. The Department exercised its duty, and in doing so, established conclusive evidence that supported the previous judgement. At that point, the Department properly filed a motion to augment the record. Nothing in Petitioner's claim disputes that this is the proper procedure to augment a record. Petitioner claims he was denied notice and an opportunity to be heard regarding the motion to augment, but as the Court of Appeal correctly noted, this too was harmless error.

The reason the Court of Appeal allowed for the record to augment is central to the issue before this Court. The proper remedy for a violation of the ICWA notice requirements is to remand for further fact finding. If the Department's inquiry had yielded information from the Paternal Grandmother that the ICWA applied, all parties would have stipulated to withdrawing the appeal and the case would have continued in the trial court.

Given, however, that the further inquiry contained in the augmented record conclusively established that ICWA did not apply, the Court of Appeal wisely accepted the information in order to make its just ruling on the merits. Had they not, the Court of Appeal would have directed the trial court and all parties to conduct an exercise in futility. Such an exercise would have wasted resources and further delayed permanency for these children, which is specifically contrary to the goals

and purposes of ICWA and the entire child welfare system.

Regardless of the procedure used to supplement the record, the plain language CCP 909 supports the action of the Appellate Court in this case, and is no different than similar cases that have faced this issue. *In re E.L.* (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 597 also involved post-judgement evidence used to support a trial court's decision regarding compliance with the ICWA. In affirming the trial court's decision, the Court held:

California Code of Civil Procedure section 909 allows a reviewing court to admit evidence not adduced at trial. *In re Zeth* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 396, 405, cautions that such authority should be exercised sparingly. But Code of Civil Procedure section 909 also mandates it shall be liberally construed where a cause may be disposed of in a single appeal. That is the case here where the interests of justice do not require a new trial or further hearings in the trial court.

E.L. also involved additional information regarding tribal eligibility which showed conclusively that the children were not eligible under the ICWA. Rather than remand for the Department to conduct the futile act of additional fact-finding, the Court held, "Remand would unnecessarily delay the likelihood of adoption of the children and would achieve the same result we do here." *In re E.L.*

82.Cal.App.5th at 599.

In re Dezi C. (2022) 79 Cal.App.5th 769 comes to the same conclusion. Dezi

further addresses the Department's failure to conduct "a proper initial inquiry,"

holding that such error is harmless, and that CCP 909 is an appropriate vehicle that

can allow an Appellate Court to reach the proper result:

In our view, an agency's failure to conduct a proper initial inquiry into a dependent child's American Indian heritage is harmless unless the record contains information suggesting a reason to believe that the child may be an "Indian child" within the meaning of ICWA, such that the absence of further inquiry was prejudicial to the juvenile court's ICWA finding. For this purpose, the "record" includes both the record of proceedings in the juvenile court and any proffer the appealing parent makes on appeal.

C. The Split of Authority Should be Resolved in Favor of Respondent

Petitioner identifies a split of authority on the issues present in this case and asks this Court to rely upon cases that support Petitioner's claim to reverse and remand. These cases, however, are easily distinguishable from this case and should not govern this Court's decision.

Several of the cases cited by Petitioner stand solely for the proposition that "making the Appellate Court the finder of fact is not the solution." *In re Jennifer A*. (2022) 103 Cal. App. 4th 692; see also *In re D.P.* (2023) 14 Cal. 5th 266. Reliance upon these cases, however, would not only ignore the plain language of CCP 909 as well as the intentions behind a motion to augment the record, a strict interpretation would require courts to engage in the futile act of additional fact-finding, only to yield the same result, delay permanency for children, and waste time and resources.

Petitioner erroneously relies on *In re G.H.* (2022) 84 Cal. App. 5th 15. In that case, however, the post judgment evidence present was not conclusive and therefore did not render a remand to be a futile act. In this case, Petitioner's statement regarding Cherokee heritage was predicated on the fact the Paternal Grandmother would conclusively know. Once Grandmother confirmed that all heritage was Mexican, the Appellate Court properly considered this evidence to affirm the trial court's decision.

The cases of *In re M.B.* (2022) 80 Cal. App. 5th 617, *In re E.V.* (2022) 80 Cal. App. 5th 691, *In re E.C.* (2022) 85 Cal. App. 5th 123 and *In re Ricky R.* (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 671 were decided incorrectly on this point and should be reversed. In addition to the rationale cited by the cases in support of Respondent's position, these cases, like Petitioner's argument, improperly place adherence to procedure over procedural and substantive due process (see Sections A and B, above), and distort the principal of harmless error.

Courts in all case types have long recognized that errors per se do not require reversal. See Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18. The harmless error rule exists, as expressed in *Chapman*, for the very reason contemplated by the Appellate Court in this case: namely, that the error did not prejudice the Petitioner such that remanding the case would produce a different result. Both parents in this case provided information that gave rise to a reason to believe the child may have Native American Ancestry. The Department ultimately discovered facts that neither parent met the threshold requirements for tribal membership, thus making it impossible for the ICWA to apply. At that moment, any error relating to timeliness or the ability to object to a motion to augment became harmless because the impact of those procedural errors was mooted by the substantive information. As such, any presiding Court must have the ability to make substantive decisions, when that information is conclusive. That is what happened here, and any Court that rules otherwise is misplacing form over substance.

D. Petitioner Still has an Available Remedy

Finally, regardless of this Court's ruling, Petitioner still has an available remedy.

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